A guide to the Church Interior & History and to the
Life of St Wilfrid
Welcome to St Wilfrid’s Church, where the sacrifice of the Mass has been offered for centuries. This guide is designed to help you to undertake a tour of the church, inform you of the history and development of the building, of Christian fellowship in the Parish of Cantley and provide you with a short description of the life of St Wilfrid.
We thank you for treating this building as a place of worship with thoughtfulness and reverenceThis is thought to be the oldest part of the Church. The distinctive dog-tooth moulding on the arch is similar to the mouldings on the arches of the West Front of Lincoln Cathedral which are known to date from 1032.
From the Main South DoorTurn right and pass through the screen into the Baptistry, which is part of the old South Aisle, built in the 13th century.
The Screen, which originally formed the "Jesus Chapel" at the East end of the old North Aisle, was created by Sir Ninian Comper in 1894, and was moved here when the Church was extended in 1989. The carved figures on the screen are St Pancras on the West and St Agnes on the East. Both these figures were donated by Agnes Tatham, one of Father Tatham's (Reverend William Tatham – Vicar from 1892 to 1938) daughters and were carved in the Austrian village of Oberammergau, the location of the famous Passion Plays.
The Font was also moved to this position when the Church was extended in 1989. The Font cover, a design by Comper, was intended to be decorated and gilded but this was never carried out.
The large window shows the "Presentation of Christ in the Temple" and, like all the other windows in the Church, is by Comper. Also in the window recess is a wooden statue of Mother and Child presented to the Mothers’ Union by David Eves, a local woodcarver and parishioner. Further works by David Eves in the Church are two lecterns, two wall plaques and the table by the New Altar. Usually his work is marked with a carved image of a small toadstool.
This Chapel has been restored in recent years. The large stained glass window to the right shows the "Adoration of the Magi". The statue of "Our Lady of Walsingham" and the altar frontal were donated by parishioners. In 1894 the window was unblocked, revealing a Lily Window, depicting our Lord crucified on a lily, Our Lady's Flower, with medieval stencilling on the reveals. It is probable that this window had been blocked off during the ravaging and destruction of stained glass windows either at the time of the Reformation or during the Commonwealth.
Unfortunately the original window faded when exposed to day light and the present one, by Comper, was donated by the Childers family in memory of Florence Childers, who died in infancy in 1854
The medieval stencilling was restored in 1960 through a gift from the Reverend Reginald Bowler, who was Vicar of Cantley from 1958 to 1962. The statues in the niches on either side of the window are of Our Lady and the Archangel Gabriel.
Exit into the NaveRising in front is the Rood Screen and on your right is a statue of the Blessed Virgin Mary, crowned and holding the Holy Child Jesus. The translation of the Latin inscription is:
"S. Mary pray for us”
The Rood Screen and loft, which were gifted by the Tatham and the Buller families and carved by McCullock of Kennington, separates the rather plain Nave from the richly decorated Chancel and restores a feature common to many Medieval Churches. Whilst it was being installed, remnants of the ancient Screen were found. Over the Screen is depicted the Crucifixion, with our Lord's Mother and St John.
This simple arrangement proclaims the Christian faith: we pass from this life (the Nave), to the glorious life to come (the Chancel and Sanctuary), through death (the Gateway). Jesus opens to us the Gate to Eternal Life with God, through his triumph over death, sin and evil on the Cross at Calvary.
The prayers of Our Lady, and all the angels and saints, aid us on our journey. The translation of the Latin inscription on the screen is:
“O thou who reignest from the tree, gather beneath thy feet, us, the builders of the screen”.
The richness of the decoration in this part of the Church was mainly gifted by Miss Wallbanke Childers. It represents the beauty and peace of the presence of God. Here, in the Sanctuary, Our Lord is present in the Blessed Sacrament of his Body and Blood, perpetually reserved in the Pyx which hangs above the High Altar.
The South (Right) side window depicts, on the left hand side, St Hugh of Lincoln and, on the right hand side, St Victoria. By tradition sweet roses spring up on the anniversary of her martyrdom, hence the roses depicted in the window. St. Victoria was martyred in 1250 and the window is obviously intended as a compliment to Queen Victoria.
The faces are portraits of the Rt. Hon. Hugh Culling Eardley Childers and his first wife, Emily. He was a member of the Privy Council and also held the offices of Chancellor of the Exchequer and Home Secretary. There were extensive accounts of his funeral in the local press at the time, recounting how the body was brought from London by special train and a description of the elaborate cortege that conveyed it from the station to Cantley Church. His body lies buried in the churchyard, with a simple headstone, and not in the family crypt under the Tower.
Beyond this window is the ancient priest door which had been bricked up. It was rediscovered during the 1894 restoration by Comper. The stalls were added later in 1906.
The Holy Angels Window was created in 1919 and is said to be a copy of the medieval window of the Nine Orders of Angels in St Michael's Church,
Spurriergate, York. It is a memorial to several people, including a young kitchen maid, who was fatally burnt in an accident in the old vicarage kitchen. The old vicarage, also known as Cantley Manor, stood on Church Lane, opposite the Church, until its demolition in the latter half of the 1970s.
The East window is early English. In the centre is the Virgin Mary holding the Holy Child, flanked on the left by St Wilfrid and on the right by St John of Beverley, founder of Beverley Minster which he is holding. He was a contemporary of St Wilfrid. The window is a memorial to John Walbanke Childers MP (1798 – 1886), whose uncle, Revd. William Walbanke Childers was Vicar of the Parish from 1803 to 1833, followed by his brother, Revd. Charles Childers from 1833 to 1843. The latter subsequently became Chaplain in Nice and a Canon of Gibraltar. The stencilling on the reveal of the window was restored in 1985, in memory of Frederick Ronald Ostick, who was a regular worshipper at the church, a Jockey Club Steward, Livery Man of the City of London and a Past Master of the Worshipful Company of Pipe Makers and Tobacconists. The figures stencilled on the window reveal represent "The Four Living Things" as described by the prophet Ezekiel.
To the sides of the East window stand statues of the Patron Saints of the Diocese of Sheffield, St Peter holding a key and St Paul holding a sword.
The High Altar is Comper’s first Gothic Altar in a parish church. This altar style later became known as “early English”, whereby the Altar is brought forward from the East wall with a Reredos behind the High Altar. The four riddle posts are surmounted by Nuremberg Angels, copies of those in Nuremberg Cathedral. Comper, Pugin and other 19th century church restorers used them in other locations.
The central panel of the Reredos is a representation of the Crucifixion, with four attendant angels bearing the instruments of the Passion, namely the spear, the nails, the dice and the seamless garment. The figures on the Reredos, from left to right, are:
Etheldreda - Wife of King Egfrid of Northumbria and a niece of St Hilda of Whitby. Their marriage was never consummated and she left him, at St Wilfrid's instigation, to become a nun and later founded an Abbey at Ely.
St. Nicholas - according to Torres 'Archdeaconry of York' written in 1229, Cantley Church was dedicated to St Nicholas and St Wilfrid is the Patron Saint.
St Peter - Patron of the See of York. Cantley was part of the Diocese of York until the formation of the Diocese of Sheffield in 1914.
St George - Patron Saint of England,. St William - Archbishop of York 1154.The Blessed Sacrament is reserved in the ancient English custom within a hanging tabernacle or Pyx over the High Altar. This method of reservation, until then unknown in England, was introduced by Comper for the first time as part of the 1894 restoration. On the Tester are twelve shields, each with the name of one of the twelve tribes of Israel inscribed in Hebrew.
The Chancel – The North SideA window placed in memory of Rowland Francis Wallbanke Childers, a Captain in the Scots Fusiliers Guards and subsequently MP for Cambridge, son of John Walbanke Childers (see the East window) who died at the age of 25 yrs. in Florence in November 1855 and was buried at St. Wilfrid’s in February 1856 and of his wife, Susanne Anne, who died three years later. It depicts, on the right, St Francis of Assisi, in the brown habit of a Member of the Franciscan Order, receiving the stigmata marks of Christ's Passion. The figures on the left are of the Blessed Virgin Mary as a child and of her mother, St Anne.
Notice the shield in the bottom right hand corner which shows not only the Childers Arms but also another coat of arms, probably that of the family of Susanne Anne whose father was General Bourchier
The statue is of St Wilfrid, our Patron Saint. A former incumbent, Reverend James Grave, who was Vicar from 1489 to1505, requested in his will that his body be buried on the North side of the Chancel by the Statue of St Wilfrid. The ravages of the Reformation and Commonwealth swept away the original statue, along with the Rood Screen. When the restoration was carried out in 1894, the grave of a Priest was discovered near this spot and the new statue positioned here.
The door in the North wall leads to the Sacristy, or Vestry, which was added in 1926. The money to build it was raised by the young people of the parish doing ' bicycle gymkhanas’ at Bellevue Football Ground. Similar methods of fundraising were also used for the extension in 1989.
The remaining window on the North side, nearest to the Rood Screen, is a representation of St Oswald, King of Northumbria. The figure of an altar server kneeling at his feet is a portrait of Oswald Tatham, one of Father Tatham's children, who died of typhoid in Canada. Beneath the kneeling figure you will notice Comper's mark, some small strawberries.
The Lectern was presented by David Eves in memory of his wife, Elli Grete Eves. An inscription is to be found upon it.
Pass through the Rood Screen into the Nave and turn right through the ScreenThe East window behind the New Altar was formerly the East window of the 'Jesus Chapel’ and was moved to this location when the Church was extended in 1989. The window represents the ‘Transfiguration of our Lord’ with, on his right, Moses holding the tablets of the ‘Ten Commandments' and, on his left, Elijah. The three Apostles, Peter, James and John, are kneeling at Our Lord’s feet.
The decorations on the wall surrounding the window and the statue of the 'Sacred Heart’ are in the style of Comper. They are the work of Howell & Bellion of Saffron Walden, specialists in the conservation of Church Interior Decorations.
The Reredos was originally designed by Comper for another church, subsequently closed. It was acquired when St Wilfrids’ was extended in 1989.
The Tester, or Canopy, was originally part of the furnishings of a redundant church. Although in the style of Comper, it was designed by one of his assistants, Walter Tapper, who later held the post of Surveyor of the Fabric to Westminster Abbey. The small window in the East wall was formerly situated at the West end of the North wall of Comper’s original North Aisle. In the left lancet is the figure of St. Cornelius, a Roman Centurion of the Italica Legion to whom, as told in the tenth chapter of the Acts of the Apostles, Our Lord appeared in a dream. He then sent for St Peter to baptise him and his household. Tradition has it that he later became the first Bishop of Caesarea. In the right lancet are St Timothy and St Eunice. St Timothy was the son of a Greek and a converted Jewess called Eunice; he travelled extensively with St Paul after St Barnabas left him. It was to him that the Epistles of St Paul to Timothy were written; one whilst he was imprisoned in Caesarea, and then again whilst in Rome awaiting execution. He was the first Bishop of Ephesus and was stoned to death for his opposition to a pagan feast in honour of the Greek Goddess, Diana. Very little is recorded about St Eunice, but it is assumed that she was St Timothy's mother. The window is a memorial to Charles William Hatfield and his son, Robert Stacy Hatfield.
Now turn to the North WallThe windows in the North wall of the extension were previously located in the North wall of Comper’s North Aisle.
The large window in the North wall is in memory of Lieutenant Roy Berriman Hatfield who was fatally wounded at a WW1 Battle of St Quentin. The figure on the left, below the arms of the Company of Merchant Tailors, is of St Andrianus who was born in Alexandria in the 5th century and was a silversmith before becoming a missionary.
The next figure is that of St Michael, the Archangel.The fourth figure is that of St Quentin, a Roman who was sent as a missionary to Gaul and settled at Amiens in Picardy. His preaching upset the local prefect who had him arrested and tortured. He was later taken to Augusta Veromadorum where he endured further torture and was finally beheaded. The place name was changed to St Quentin in his honour.
Comper’s mark of a strawberry can also be found in this window.The central window in the North wall depicts Our Lord showing St Thomas the marks of the nails with St Thomas making his great confession:
"My Lord and My God"
The Statue of St George is another example of Comper’s work which was gifted by the Tatham family in memory of the Reverend George Henry Tatham who died in 1910. The inscription round the base reads "St George pray for us." The canopy over the statue was a gift from John Holmes in memory of his mother
The third window in the North wall depicts Our Lord saying:
"Suffer the little children to come to me".
The new West window high on the West wall was gifted by the Reverend Canon Derek Norman Gibbs and his wife, Eileen. Canon Gibbs was the Vicar of the Parish from 1980 to 1992.
The Church was extended during his incumbency.
The Statue of St Hilda, below the West window, stands as a reminder of the Chapel of St Hilda, Bessacarr, which was sold to finance the extension in which you now stand. The statue was the gift of Lay Canon Elizabeth Paver and stands on a plinth gifted in memory of Basil Heath, a long time Verger of the Parish.
Return into the Old NaveThe Tower was built in the middle of the 14th century and it contains three bells. The tenor is dated 1610 and carries the inscription "Jesus Spede". The middle bell is inscribed "The Church God save her”. The bells were retuned and hung in the present steel frame in 1982.
Beneath the tower, now inaccessible, is the
Childers’ Family Vault. Around the walls are monuments to various members of the family, the finest of these being that of John Walbanke Childers (1766 -1812), a Colonel in the 11th Light Dragoons and a Magistrate, father of John Walbanke Childers to whom the East window in the Chancel is dedicated.
The Organ was installed in 1905 and has been rebuilt several times, the most recent being in 1982 when it was converted from tracker to electric action and in 1993 when further stops were added. The case was to have been decorated by Comper, but this has never been completed. The Organ was restored in 2001 in memory of Jane Willett, mother of the Revd. Canon John Willett, Vicar of the Parish since 1999.
The window at the West end of the South wall depicts the Baptism of Our Lord by St John the Baptist in the River Jordan. The Font stood below this window from 1894 until 1989 when it was moved to its present site.
EXTERNAL FEATURESIn memory of the dead of World Wars I & II, this is situated on the outside wall at the East end of the Lady Chapel.
The North Extension Foundation StoneThis is to be found embedded in the outside wall at the East end of the North Extension. In the wall behind it is a capsule containing various artefacts of the time when the North Extension was built in 1988/89
The Lych GateThe earliest record of the church occurs in the Domesday Book, a census of land taken for tax purposes on the orders of William the Conqueror. It was completed about the year 1086, twenty years after he had come to the throne of England. The original Domesday Book was written in Norman French and a translation covering several volumes was produced in 1986. There is an earlier translation known as the “Dom Book” made in 1809 by the Reverend William Bawdwen, Vicar of Hooton Pagnall from 1797 until his death in 1816, covering the old West Riding of Yorkshire. The following is taken from this book:
Land of Gaisford Alselin West Riding Manor In Brantone and Canteleia (Branton and Cantley)Tochi has fourteen curactes land and one oxgang and a half to be taxed. Land to fifteen ploughs. Gaisford or Geofry Alffelin has now there two ploughs, and six villanes, and two fokemen and five borders having six ploughs and a half. There is a church and a priest.
The term “plough”, refers to a measurement, being the amount of land that could be ploughed by an ox team in a day.
When the first Church was built at Cantley is not known, nor if any of the structure remains in the present Church. The decoration around the arch of the South door is of a similar style to that around the West door of Lincoln Cathedral, which is known to date around the year 1032. The current building dates from 1257; the Tower was added about one hundred years later. The choice of location of Cantley Church remains something of a mystery. It was built on a minor lane between Cantley and Branton, in a position which is inconvenient for these old settlements, and also the settlement of High Ellers, which has now completely disappeared. It stands on a mound and, instead of facing due East, is turned 50 degrees to the North. It is possible that the church was founded on a site used for earlier worship. Perhaps it was the site of a Romano-British pagan temple or burial ground associated with second century pottery kilns, traces of which have been unearthed in the area during 20th century road construction and building works.
The original Cantley Village may have been a collection of wattle and daub buildings close to the Church. This settlement may have been affected by an outbreak of the plague, more commonly known as the Black Death, which raged throughout Britain and struck Cantley in 1547. It is probable the survivors, in common with the practice of the time, relocated the village to the area of Old Cantley to prevent reinfection.
A Roman connection is suggested both by its dedication to St Wilfrid and an early foundation date, although, according to Torre's "Archdeaconry of York”, dated 1229, Cantley Church is shown as being dedicated to St Nicholas with St Wilfrid as Patron Saint. Pope Gregory instructed his missionaries to Britain not to alienate the native population by the wholesale destruction of their religious buildings, but to convert the pagan temples to Christian use.
There are parish records in the archives at York going back to the Year 1218, because, until the formation of the Diocese of Sheffield in 1914, the Parish of Cantley was part of the Diocese of York. These records reveal that the Manor, the Church and its associated lands belonged to Wallingwells Priory at Carlton-in Lindrick until the Dissolution of the Monasteries by Henry VIII. The Church suffered from neglect during the 17th, 18th and early 19th centuries due to absentee incumbents. The Archbishop reported on one of his very infrequent visitations. "There is a priest but they do not have a Bible". Another incumbent, who held the living for nearly forty years, requested permission from the Bishop to reside in Doncaster as “he found the climate more congenial to his health”.
On 10 September 1784 the Rectory and “Advowson” being the right to appoint a candidate to church office, passed to the Childers family who resided at Cantley Hall. The Patronage and Lay Rectorship remained theirs to exercise until 1901. Two members of the family, William Wallbanke Childers, from 1803 to 1833 and Charles Childers, who later became Rector of Armthorpe, from 1833 to 1843, were Vicars of St Wilfrid’s.
Following World War II there was considerable housing development in the Parish. Although two conventional districts were created, later to become the Parishes of St Hugh, New Cantley and St Francis, West Bessacarr, it became apparent that the church building was too small to meet the needs of the Parish population. So on 5th November 1988 the foundation stone of the extension was laid by Mrs Hilda Sibellas the widow of a former incumbent, the Reverend Leonard Sibellas, who had died as the result of a motoring accident on Bawtry Road.
Work was started on 7th November 1988 and completed in April 1989 to enlarge the Church into what we see today. The architect was Donald Buttress, Surveyor of the Fabric to Westminster Abbey, and Laing Construction were the main contractors.
The extension was consecrated by the Bishop of Sheffield, the Right Reverend David Ramsey Lunn, on Saturday 6th May 1989. Funding for the extension was provided in part by the sale of a Chapel and Hall dedicated to St Hilda on Bawtry Road.
Visitors will now realise that the present building stands as a constant reminder to the present parishioners of the Christian Mission established in history and demanding that we carry that mission forward with faith and conviction.
The Life of St WilfridWilfrid was born the son of a Northumbrian Thegn in 634. His mother died when he was quite young, and he and his stepmother were never in harmony. He went to the court of Oswy, King of Northumbria, where he was befriended by Queen Eanfleda, who sent him to the monastery at Lindisfarne to study the sacred sciences. He, as one historian says "Dispaired of the insularity of the place", then decided to travel in France and Italy.
He stayed awhile in Canterbury where he studied the Roman Discipline under St Honorius and learnt the Roman version of the psalter, which differed from the Celtic version used at Lindisfarne. In 654 St Benet Biscop passed through Kent on his way to Rome and Wilfrid joined him for the sea crossing. Wilfrid eventually reached Lyons where St Annemund was bishop. Annemund offered Wilfrid a position of high importance and the hand of his niece in marriage, both of which he declined. Wilfrid eventually travelled to Rome where he continued his studies under Archdeacon Boniface, secretary to Pope St Martin.
Wilfrid then returned to Lyons for another three years, during which time he took the tonsure in the Roman manner, thus showing his abandonment and dissent of the Celtic customs. Annemund wished to make Wilfrid his heir, but he was murdered before this could take place. It was only because Wilfrid was a foreigner that he escaped with his life.
Upon returning to England, King Alefrid of Deira requested Wilfrid to instruct him in the Roman discipline. Alefrid had recently established a monastery at Ripon where he wished the Celtic usage to be abandoned and replaced by the Roman usage. The Abbott, Eata, along with Cuthbert and other monks refused to accede to the king's wishes and returned to Melrose. Alefrid appointed Wilfrid Abbot of Ripon in Eatas’ place. Wilfrid introduced the Rule of St Benedict and, shortly afterwards, he was ordained priest by Agibert, the Frankish bishop of the West Saxons.
By this time the whole of England except for a small portion south and west of a line drawn roughly from Hastings to Bristol had been converted to Christianity. The Roman usage brought to England by St Augustine had spread northwards and westwards, whilst the Celtic usage, brought to lona by St Columba, had spread south and east. It might now be thought in the words of the Easter Hymn "The strife is o'er the battle won" but, alas it was not to be. There was strong discord as to which usage was the correct one - the Roman or Celtic. There were many differences, each had a different calendar and as a result Christmas and Easter along with other major feasts were kept at different times, each had a different shaped tonsure and other differences not reported here.
In 663 or 664, the exact date is unsure, a synod, known as the Synod of Whitby, was held to decide which usage would prevail, the Roman or the Celtic. Wilfrid, as Abbot of Ripon, along with all the other bishops and abbots attended. One of the historians states "Wilfrid by the eloquence of his oration carried the day" and so the Roman Usage was adopted. Needless to say, some of the northern bishops took umbrage, among them Colman, Bishop of
Lindisfarne, who retired to lona. Tuda was consecrated Bishop of Northumbria but died very shortly afterwards. King Alefrid wanted Wilfrid to be Bishop of York.
Wilfrid was not popular with the northern bishops, perhaps because of the Whitby decision, and, also, Wilfrid rather unkindly regarded them as schismatics.
When it came to Wilfrid's consecration a historian states "there were not enough goodly bishops in the north to carry it out". Wilfrid went south and then on to France where he was consecrated bishop by his old friend Angibert, who had returned home. The question of why the southern bishops did not consecrate him, may be answered in the Book of Common Prayer of 1662, much of which is based on more ancient usage. In the Preface to the Form and Manner of Making, Ordaining, and Consecrating of Bishops, Priests, and Deacons it states;
"And everyman who is to be ordained or consecrated Bishop shall be fully thirty years of age"At this time Wilfrid was only just thirty and it is probable that he was regarded by the southern bishops as of “insufficient maturity”, and therefore not competent.
For reasons unknown Wilfrid dallied in France after his consecration, before returning to England. In the meantime King Oswy who had succeeded Alefrid had sent Chad, Abbott of Lastingham, south to be consecrated by Wine, Bishop of the West Saxons and on his return appointed him Bishop of York.
When Wilfrid returned he did not dispute Chad's appointment, but retired to his Abbey at Ripon. He often visited Mercia and on one occasion brought back with him a monk called Eddius Stephanus who became not only his friend, but also his biographer. In 669 Theodore, the newly appointed Archbishop of Canterbury, on his visitation decreed that Chad's appointment was irregular and as a result Wilfrid was installed as Bishop of York.
Wilfrid travelled extensively throughout his diocese and with the assistance of Eddius introduced the Latin into all the churches in his diocese. He was greatly loved by all the people except one, King Egfrid. His wife Etheldreda (a niece of St Hilda the Abbess of Whitby), had refused, after ten years of marriage, to consummate it. With the advice and assistance of Wilfrid she became a nun at Collingham and later founded her own abbey at Ely.
Theodore now decided that Wilfrid's diocese was too large, and with the support of Egfrid, who accused Wilfrid of maladministration, divided the diocese into three and consecrated three new bishops in Wilfrid's cathedral at York.
As a result of these events, Wilfrid travelled to Rome to appeal to the Pope. A special synod was summoned which decreed that Wilfrid was to be restored to his See, with the right to appoint his own assistant bishops. When he returned to England Egfrid accused him of having obtained his papal decrees by bribery and imprisoned him for the next nine months.
On his release Wilfrid went to Sussex where he began the conversion of the pagan South Saxons. Ethelwald, the King of the South Saxons, was already a convert to Christianity in Mercia. King Ethelwald gave Wilfrid some land at Selsey where he founded a monastery, later to become an episcopal see, with Wilfrid as the first bishop. The see of Selsey was transferred to Chichester in 1075. Wilfrid spent five years at Selsey and on the death of Egfrid,he was called to London by Theodore, who regretted his actions in depriving Wilfrid of his see. Theodore then wrote letters to various people including succeeded Egfrid as King of Northumbria, requesting Wilfrid's reinstatement. In 689 Wilfrid was restored to his abbey at Ripon.
Within five years of his return to the north Wilfrid quarrelled with Aldfrid and as a result was banished from Northumbria. Wilfrid went into Mercia where Ethelred, King of Mercia, gave him the vacant see of Lichfield.
Berthwald (who had succeeded Theodore as Archbishop of Canterbury) had no sympathy for Wilfrid and as a result of pleas from Aldfrid and others called the Synod of the River Nidd. Again the decision was made that Wilfrid should resign and retire to his Abbey at Ripon. Wilfrid again made the journey to Rome and appealed to the Pope and again his appeal was upheld.
When Wilfrid returned to England Aldfrid still made things difficult for him until his death in 705. Wilfrid accepted a compromise; he retained the See of Hexham but resided at his Abbey at Ripon. John of Beverley remaining as Bishop of York.
Wilfrid was a great traveller and spent a large amount of his time visiting the various monasteries he had founded. It was on one of these visits to Fotheringhay near Oundle in Northamptonshire that he died in 709.
On his death his body was first buried in the crypt at Ripon and was later transferred to Hexham. His relics were later translated to London and finally to Worcester. He was revered both at Ripon and Hexham and numerous churches have been dedicated to him. He was canonised for his work of establishing the authority of the Roman Catholic faith in England.
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